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NOW COMES Plaintiffs, Officer Gary Byrne and The GJB Project, for his/their complaint 

against the above named Defendants, as follows:  

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1.    The Court has original and subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1964 et seq. along with supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  This Court also has 

jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) as the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value 

of $75,000 and is between citizens of different states. 

2.    Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1965(a) and 28 U.S.C. 1391(b) as this 

is a district in which Defendants have agents, and in which Defendants transact their affairs.   A 

substantial part of the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claim occurred in this district, including many 

acts that were part of Defendants’ schemes to defraud. 28 U.S.C. 1391(b)(2).   Further, there is also 

venue in this district as pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1965(b) the ends of justice require that Defendants 

be brought before this Court for adjudication of Plaintiff’s claims.  

3.       Plaintiffs have standing to bring this action because they have been directly affected and 

victimized by the unlawful conduct complained of herein.  Their injuries are proximately related to 

the illegal conduct of defendants, who have destroyed them, their business, and individual 

livelihoods.  

4.  Venue is proper pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1965 and 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) in that Defendants 

either transact significant business here or reside here and are subject to personal jurisdiction in this 

District.  Further, much of the evidence of wrongdoing is located in and directly contiguous to this 

District, and the pattern of racketeering was and is directed at and committed within the confines 
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of the District (which is the seat of the United States Government) – where the Enterprise scheme 

continues. 

PLAINTIFFS 

5. Plaintiff Gary J. Byrne (“Byrne” or “Officer Byrne”) is a former officer of the United States 

Secret Service who bore witness to the significant transgressions of President William Jefferson 

Clinton and Hillary Rodham Clinton, and who has been  injured in his business and property by the 

Defendants, functioning through a civil RICO Enterprise due to his providing truthful testimony 

and recounting wrongdoing in an equally truthful New York Times Number 1 nonfiction bestseller, 

written by Byrne, entitled “Crisis of Character:  A White House Secret Service Officer Discloses 

His Firsthand Experience with Hillary, Bill, and How They Operate.” (“Crisis of Character” or 

“Crisis”).   Plaintiff The GJB Project is the legal entity by which Officer Byrne conducts his 

business affairs. 

DEFENDANTS/ENTERPRISE MEMBERS 

6. Defendant and Enterprise Member David Brock (“Brock”), is and has been the creator of 

partisan “non-profit” entities which use as a primary tactic that which would otherwise constitute, 

and in this case constituted, defamation with respect to Byrne and fatal injury to Byrne’s business. 

In collaboration with his many partisan entities registered with the Internal Revenue Service as 

“non-profits” and presented as such to his many unknowing (and knowing) donors, Brock has 

played a role for the RICO Enterprise by and through legal entity Enterprise members American 

Bridge 21st Century Foundation, American Democracy Legal Fund, American Independent 

Institute, Citizens for Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (“CREW”), Common Purpose 

Project,  Franklin Education Forum, Franklin Forum, Media Matters, Media Matters Action 

Network, as well as Political Action Committees (“PACs), Super PACs, and Party Committees such 
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as American Bridge 21st Century, Correct the Record, Franklin Forum, Priorities USA Action, 

American Priorities, and American Priorities 16 Joint Fundraising Committee.  Brock is the author 

of the leaked “Terminate Trump” dossier which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A.”  Orchestrated by 

Brock, defendants/Enterprise Members have consistently shown a pattern of such illicit behavior, 

e.g., their defamatory and false statements, and related wire and mail fraud steadily coordinated by

Brock with the resulting devastation of the commercial establishment of analogous victim Peter 

Schweizer – the author of Clinton Cash, which documents illicit donations and myriad predicate 

acts made to and/or involving the Clinton Foundation correlated to the Enterprise herein and 

continuing to this day.  

7. Enterprise Member Media Matters for America (“Media Matters”) is a highly partisan, not

for profit organization, who along with defendant David Brock and Correct the Record, was used 

to disseminate false and defamatory information about Office Byrne knowing that such information 

had been falsely created or otherwise “ginned up” thereby directly and proximately causing 

permanent injury to Office Byrne. 

8. Defendant and Enterprise member Hillary Rodham Clinton is a former Secretary of State

and United States Senator (D-NY), as well as the nominee of the Democratic Party to become the 

45th President of the United States, who knowingly and corruptly served as a principal in the 

Enterprise and directed  predicate acts involving obstruction of justice and bribery in order to further 

the goals of the Enterprise to cause injury to the business and property of Office Byrne, and unduly 

enrich herself and her family. 

9. Non-Defendant Enterprise member George Soros (“Soros”) is a Hungarian-American

investor and leftist Democratic Party partisan who has supported the Enterprise in illicitly funneling 

monies to pay bribes to independent contractors and terminated FBI official Peter Strzok to gin up 
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false information about Office Byrne, who was viewed as an enemy of the Clintons – and assist in 

funding a safehouse in Massachusetts located at 167 Crescent Avenue, North Attleboro utilized by 

Strzok and Enterprise Members to destabilize Donald J. Trump, Sr. in his bid for the presidency, 

the destruction and veiling of thousands of illicit Hillary Clinton electronic mail transmissions, and 

further the Enterprise operational scheme. 

10. Defendant and Enterprise Member John Podesta is the former chairman of the 2016 Hillary

Clinton presidential campaign and principal who facilitated the payment of bribes to create false 

sources of information about Officer Byrne and assisted in directing the destruction of documents 

and, with the collaboration of FBI seniors officials Andrew McCabe, Peter Strzok and James 

Comey, the veiling of documents which would have shown this illegal conduct. 

11. Enterprise Member Correct the Record was a Super PAC founded by David Brock and

funded by Hillary Clinton and George Soros and used by Brock in publishing “FROM THE DESK 

OF DAVID BROCK”, which facilitated the payment of bribes to create false information about 

Officer Byrne.  Enterprise member, non-Defendant Jan Gilhooly, at all times relevant to this action, 

including when he intentionally and illegally defamed Plaintiff Gary Byrne, was the president of a 

nonprofit. “nonpartisan” organization known as the Association of Former Agents of the United 

States Secret Service (“AFAUSSS”).  Gilhooly has actively and knowingly evaded service of 

process in this matter. 

12. Enterprise member, non-Defendant Jonathan Wackrow is an executive at Teneo, an

organization very closely affiliated with the Clintons, The Clinton Foundation, and the Clinton 

Global Initiative, and their related wrongdoing, as well as a “regular commentator on security and 

risk management on major news outlets.”   Both Gilhooly and Wackrow defamed Officer Byrne 

and were compensated by Brock and Soros under the table.  

Case 1:18-cv-01422-PLF   Document 51   Filed 08/29/18   Page 5 of 33



6 

13. Defendant and Enterprise Member Peter Strzok is a former FBI high-ranking

counterintelligence official who knowingly and corruptly served as a principal in the Enterprise and 

directed  predicate acts involving obstruction of justice and bribery in order to further the goals of 

the Enterprise to cause injury to the business and property of Officer Byrne; in so doing, Strzok 

used his official office in collaboration with terminated FBI Director James Comey, terminated 

FBI Deputy Director Andrew McCabe, along with demoted Department of Justice Official Bruce 

Ohr - who according to congressional investigative committees accepted bribes from the 

presidential campaign of Hillary Clinton, through opposition research firm Fusion GPS, in order to 

assist in the Enterprise dissemination of false and defamatory information about her “opponents”- 

but also utilized laundered Soros funding to carry out Enterprise operations at 167 Crescent Avenue, 

North Attleboro, Massachusetts, 02760, in violation, inter alia, of the federal Travel Act in 

conjunction with the campaign lawyer for Hillary Clinton, Perkins Coie LLP, an international 

law firm, consistently furthering the objectives of the Enterprise from its collaborating offices in the 

Republic of China with attendant financial institutions in the United States. 

14. Numerous defendants remain unknown named, and based upon an increasing number of

corroborated informant testimony will be identified and proven to be participants in the vastly 

expanding criminal Enterprise at issue in this lawsuit. 

INTRODUCTION 

15. Plaintiff alleges that beginning at a time before 2016 and continuing through at least year

2016, because of the upcoming publication of a book critical of former President William Clinton, 

Enterprise members, including Defendants Hillary Clinton and John Podesta, engaged in the 

destruction and “wiping clean” of inculpatory documents (e-mails) from Clinton’s private 

unsecured computer system which would have shown, among other things, that they had paid bribes 

to independent contractors to create false information about Plaintiff Officer Byrne, and had 

illegally caused the government to conduct illegal domestic surveillance of Officer Byrne, all in 

violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1512(c)(1), which is RICO predicate activity. 
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16. Moreover, Defendant David Brock and Enterprise members he controlled, the

“nonpartisan” non-profits, such as Correct the Record, knowing that the information was false and 

received as a result of bribes paid to independent contractors, used facilities in interstate commerce 

(such as internet outlets and other media outlets) to disseminate this false information which thereby 

promoted and facilitated the unlawful activity, i.e., bribery in violation of states to be determined, 

including the District of Columbia, all in violation of 18 U.S.C. section 1952(a)(3), which is RICO 

predicate activity.1   Brock utilized the services of Enterprise members Wackrow and Gilhooly to 

commit the slander and libel, knowing that they were compensated by Brock and Enterprise 

member George Soros.    The Defendants’ payment of bribes are also believed to have been made 

to public officials as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 201(a)(1), to aid in committing and colluding in any 

fraud in violation of U.S.C. § 201((b)(1)(B), which is also RICO predicate activity. 

17. Plaintiff has standing to bring this action as he incurred injury to his business and as a result

of damage to his reputation, which has long been found to be sufficient injury to meet the standing 

requirement in this district.  See Lewis v. Lhu, 696 F. Supp. 723, 727 (D.D.C. 1988) (numerous 

subsequent citations omitted).   Plaintiff has also incurred legal fees and expenses as a result of the 

1 D.C. Code section 22-712 provides: 
(a) A person commits the offense of bribery if that person:

(1) Corruptly offers, gives, or agrees to give anything of value, directly or indirectly, to a public
servant; or 

(2) Corruptly solicits, demands, accepts, or agrees to accept anything of value, directly or
indirectly, as a public servant; 

in return for an agreement or understanding that an official act of the public servant will be influenced 
thereby or that the public servant will violate an official duty, or that the public servant will commit, aid 
in committing, or will collude in or allow any fraud against the District of Columbia. 
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damage to his reputation caused by the illegal predicate activity of obstruction of justice (destroying 

inculpatory documents), and the Defendants use of interstate facilities to promote and facilitate their 

bribery. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

18. Prior to the 2016 presidential election, Byrne wrote a nonfiction book entitled Crisis of

Character:  A White House Secret Service Officer Discloses His Firsthand Experience with Hillary, 

Bill, and How They Operate (“Crisis of Character” or “Crisis”), which recounted, among other 

things, Byrne’s direct observations as a United States Secret Service Officer in constant close 

proximity to then-President William Clinton and (then-First Lady of the United States) Hillary 

Clinton.  These experiences and direct observations included, but were not limited to, numerous 

and highly-disturbing first-hand reflections of President Clinton and of Hillary Clinton prior to her 

becoming a United States Senator -including Hillary Clinton physically battering the President of 

the United States.  Byrne’s compelled testimony before a Independent Counsel Kenneth Starr Grand 

Jury – among the first of its kind – was, due to its faultless veracity and proof of William Clinton’s 

perjury and obstruction of justice prior to the production of the Lewinsky “blue dress” incrusted 

with President Clinton’s DNA, instrumental in the impeachment of President William Clinton.  The 

Clintons, Brock, Podesta have sworn reprisal ever since, and have sought payback against Byrne– 

utilizing predicate acts and related defamatory per se tactics to destroy Byrne and his business and, 

with Byrne and other Plaintiffs out of the way, provide a path to a second Clinton presidency.   

19. Officer Byrne has been intentionally defamed and fatally injured in his business by

defendants Brock, Correct the Record, Media Matters, Hillary Clinton and Gilhooly and Wackrow, 

among others – with support by Enterprise members George Soros, the Clinton Global Enterprise 

(“CGI”) and Clinton Giustra Enterprise Partnership (“CGEP”) resources,, e.g., Secretary of State 
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Hillary Clinton Enterprise bribery regarding control of U.S. uranium to Russia in exchange for 

hundreds of millions of dollars for the Enterprise operational perpetuation and, inter alia, American 

Bridge at the instruction of “Hillary for America” (the presidential campaign of Hillary Clinton). 

20. Plaintiff Gary Byrne was deemed a particularized threat to the Enterprise, as he was

deemed highly trustworthy and sincere.  Proofs of Plaintiff’s book, Crisis of Character:  A White 

House Secret Service Officer Discloses His Firsthand Experience with Hillary, Bill, and How They 

Operate, were being circulated during the Spring of 2016, following earlier widespread discussion 

as Hillary Clinton rigged the Democratic primary against Vermont Senator Bernard Sanders, and 

then more formally promoted in early June of 2016 and released in late June of that year. 

Defendants Hillary Clinton, David Brock, and John Podesta, sought to minimize these disclosures 

and paid bribes to illicit false and damaging information about Office Byrne.   Brock illicitly began 

defaming Plaintiff Byrne daily utilizing the “nonpartisan” Correct the Record “FROM THE 

DESK OF DAVID BROCK” using Enterprise members, Media Matters and Correct the 

Record platforms – with American Bridge and Brock himself openly and admittedly serving as the 

illicit link to Hillary for America.  Wackrow and Gilhooly then appeared on CNN,2 both as 

“expert” panelists paid under the table and on shows such as “Smerconish” and other CNN 

television hits.  Brock and the Enterprise, funding and utilizing knowingly false opposition research, 

used his nonprofit, “nonpartisan” entities and, in addition, did not report payments to Wackrow, 

Gilhooly and Gilhooly’s nonprofit entity.  The Enterprise defamation continued nonstop throughout 

the summer of 2016, and thereafter.  This false information was conveyed with the intent to destroy 

the business and livelihood of Plaintiff. 

2 Cable News Network, or “CNN”, is a self-described “American pay television news channel and subsidiary of AT&T’s 
WarnerMedia” – and is considered to be aligned closely with the Democratic Party and alleged thereto to espouse the 
Enterprise described herein. 
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21. From before year 2016, and continuing through year 2016, Defendants Hillary Clinton and 

John Podesta, with the assistance of David Brock, bribed independent contractors and government 

officials to provide sources of false information about Byrne. This inculpatory information 

resided on Hillary Clinton’s personal e-mail system/servers.  Then, realizing the inculpatory 

nature of this information, from before year 2016 and continuing through 2016, Hillary 

Clinton and John Podesta – with the assistance of Clinton’s legal counsel - destroyed large 

numbers of documents and e-mails, which (with the knowledge and support of Strzok, McCabe 

and Comey) remain missing to this day.  It is known that tens of thousands of e-mails were 

deleted and “wiped” by Hillary Clinton and her co-conspirators from her illicit servers, e.g., 

Plaintiff was informed by a FBI Human Confidential Source that significant information about 

him was/is contained in the illegally deleted Clinton e-mails (obstructing justice in each such e-

mail targeting “enemy” Byrne). 

22. FBI official Defendant Peter Strzok was the lead investigator of the Hillary Clinton “e-mail 

scandal” for part of that time (2015-2016), and had knowledge of the destruction of documents but 

took no action because of his fierce, passionate loyalty to candidate Hillary Clinton and deep bias 

against Donald Trump, Sr.   As noted, other illegal Enterprise activity involved the directing of the 

FBI to utilize illegal domestic human and electronic surveillance, and tradecraft such as “lures” 

run at Byrne in order to damage Byrne’s credibility. Information that Human Confidential 

Sources (“HCSs”) were illegally used is believed to be also part of the documents destroyed in 

order to cover up the illegal activity.   

23. Utilizing counterintelligence tradecraft, the DoJ-controlled HCS team “ran at” Plaintiff 

Byrne because they thought he was on the Trump campaign (he was not), that he is Republican 

(when he simply believed based upon observations that Clinton was unfit to be President) and 

because they believed Plaintiff presented a “threat” to Hillary Clinton because he knew a great 

deal about the Clintons.   In so doing, the Enterprise attempted 
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to use Plaintiffs in their scheme to obstruct justice with respect to the Clinton Enterprise private 

server malfeasance.  Plaintiffs were burned not only by tactical Enterprise defamation to deny the 

truth, but by the Obama/Enterprise counterintelligence apparatus to obstruct justice.   

24. It is not difficult to discern what the Enterprise was attempting to do to Plaintiff Gary

Byrne.  As the FBI HCS teams excel at, they attempted to manipulate Byrne (while they thought 

he was with the Trump campaign), as HCS Stefan (“Stef”) Halper and his team were dispatched by 

Enterprise members John Brennan (then CIA Director), James Comey (then FBI Director) and the 

Enterprise to manipulate for partisan purposes any suspected Trump “associate” or Enterprise 

“enemy.” 

25. Officer Byrne was considered an “enemy” of Hillary Clinton and the Enterprise, and was

(wrongly) assumed to be working for the Trump campaign.  This Honorable Court might also take 

into account that Byrne was not only an Officer of the United States Secret Service, but an Air 

Force veteran and a Transportation Security Administration Air Marshal before he and his fellow 

Plaintiffs were destroyed by the Enterprise. 

26. Enterprise principals targeted Plaintiff Byrne with the most robust counterintelligence

powers in existence in order to illicit information which they could use to destroy him. 

27. Plaintiff Gary Byrne overheard the Enterprise team HCS placing a cell phone call to “Stef”

– assumed by Byrne at the time to be a woman.  Another witness in this matter will be the wife of

George Papadopoulos, who will testify that her husband believed/believes (as does Plaintiff Gary 

Byrne) that the dangled HCS e-mails were those “missing” from the wiped Hillary Clinton private 

server.  
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28. Strzok noted that “we can’t take the risk” of Trump being elected or retained in office, and

further noted that the FBI needed to undermine Trump (both before and after the 2106 election, if 

Trump won) as an “insurance policy”, i.e., as a hedge against any possible Trump victory in the 

2016 presidential contest.   Because of that entrenched bias and position as the lead 

investigator in the Hillary Clinton investigation, and improper HCS interactions with Ohr, it is 

reasonably inferred that Strzok was complicit in the destruction of and “wiping” of the inculpatory 

e-mails.

29. Beyond illicit human intelligence gathering, the Enterprise conducted surreptitious

electronic surveillance both before and after misleading the Foreign Intelligence Surveillance Court 

(“FISC”) – led by District of Columbia federal judge Rosemary Collyer  - the Enterprise destroyed 

tens of thousands of e-mails under subpoena and/or court order (including plans to defame and 

otherwise undermine Plaintiff Gary Byrne and others, and the overall “game plan” for conducting 

their operational scheme – all the while running classified information through private unsecure 

Hillary Clinton servers and delivering classified information to multiple individuals not adequately 

cleared to receive it.   

30. For several months between the summer of calendar year 2016 (when Crisis was released)

and the November 8th United States’ presidential election, and thereafter, an Enterprise vehicle, 

Correct the Record, under the moniker “FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK,” published on 

its site intentionally published numerous clearly defamatory falsehoods coordinated illegally with 

the Hillary Clinton for President campaign (“Hillary for America” or “HFA”), with the intent to 

destroy the business and livelihood of Plaintiffs.    

31. Enterprise members, including defendants, individually and collectively and in collusion

with Correct the Record defamation and obstruction of justice, utilizing false vitriol emanating 

“FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK,” published, among other things and in illegal 
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coordination with HFA, an extensive series of defamatory statements, represented as fact, directly 

attacking Plaintiff Gary Byrne and his business interests, that a substantial and respectable minority 

– and most likely an overwhelming majority – of the Plaintiff’s community would consider

defamatory. 

32. Enterprise members, including Defendant Brock, through its vehicle Correct the Record

and enabling libel “FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK,” defamed Plaintiff by referring to 

Crisis as “recycled gossip,” “debunked lies,” and “Trump-esque conspiracy theories”, when in fact 

Crisis was based upon first-hand observation by a United States Secret Service Officer of President 

William Clinton and Hillary Clinton, recounted under oath, and corroborated by William and 

Hillary Clinton. 

33. Enterprise members, including Defendants Brock and Podesta, colluded in the absolute

falsehood that Byrne had “no direct access to the First Family,” thus directly contradicting prior 

sworn testimony by not only Plaintiff Gary Byrne, but also President William Clinton, defendant 

Hillary Clinton, Clinton partisan confidante George Stephanopoulos, White House Chief of Staff 

(to William Clinton) Leon Panetta, and numerous others with direct knowledge (including counsel 

of record here, David Evan Kendall) - and in particular included the relevant Enterprise defendants’ 

intentional false statements by wire, through, inter alia, Correct the Record, and in the process, as 

intended, obstructed justice with respect to the federal espionage investigation of Hillary Clinton. 

34. In addition to the Enterprise’s constant written repetition of slanderous statements about

Plaintiff by Gilhooly and Wackrow, on both the website of Media Matters and Correct the Record, 

“FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK,” (therein drawing inferences relevant therefrom), and 

the contradictory evidence shown by testimony of White House principals during the time Plaintiff 

Gary Byrne was stationed directly outside the Oval Office at position E-6, Media Matters and 
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Correct the Record libeled Byrne by unambiguously and intentionally misstating that Byrne had 

not fully told the truth under oath during earlier testimony which led to the impeachment of William 

Clinton (the 42nd President of the United States) along with the production of the semen-stained 

blue dress of President Clinton’s paramour (and White House intern) soiled with the President’s 

DNA – both of which led to the impeachment of President Clinton - for which the Enterprise has 

sought reprisal for decades. 

35. Gilhooly and Wackrow directly and falsely questioned Plaintiff’s veracity and slandered

him on a cable television network (Cable News Network (CNN), on numerous occasions, and The 

Michael Smerconish Show), directly stating and otherwise inferring that Plaintiff was a criminal, 

knowing their statements were untrue and inconsistent with those of, among others, defendants 

William and Hillary Clinton, and their legal counsel David Evan Kendall – and further obstructing 

justice with respect to Hillary Clinton’s attempts to conceal Enterprise planning to damage Plaintiff 

Gary Byrne contained in (private Clinton servers) e-mails that had been destroyed while under 

congressional subpoena and in the context of an FBI investigation, and after being ordered to turn 

them over by this honorable court. 

36. Like Media Matters and Correct the Record, Wackrow and Gilhooly were personally

served with retraction demands by the undersigned, as well as cease and desist and litigation hold 

letters -  thus subjecting them, like the Enterprise participants, to punitive damages under relevant 

State pendant defamation statutes, to which they did not respond or comply with at the instructions 

of the Enterprise. 

37. Wackrow’s slander (before taking a highly-compensated position with Clinton-controlled

Teneo with the assistance of the Enterprise), and that of Gilhooly, as noted, was completely false 
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yet repeated as fact in Correct the Record, “FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK”, and direct 

adverse inferences concerning the defamation of Byrne are drawn thereby. 

38. The Enterprise, through the vehicle Correct the Record and “FROM THE DESK OF

DAVID BROCK”, also colluded in claiming that the New York Times stated as fact that Byrne’s 

“juiciest anecdotes [within Crisis] are just a rehash of old rumors,” while referring to Crisis as 

“SUMMER FICTION” – again intentionally ignoring that Byrne’s observations were based upon 

first-hand knowledge/observation previously agreed upon by other participants in the Enterprise, 

including defendant Hillary Clinton, and numerous others – and thereby obstructing justice in the 

context of the email investigations noted above. 

39. Unreservedly contradicting Brock and his illicit entities’ defamation, as well as the

defamation of Gilhooly and Wackrow, the Clintons themselves (William and Hillary) have 

conceded that Plaintiff Gary Byrne was “the last barrier before anyone saw (President) Bill 

Clinton;” even easily accessed You Tube footage and photographic evidence available with a simple 

Google search shows Officer Byrne’s fixed position directly adjacent to President William Clinton 

for many years should have been reviewed (but was not) by Wackrow and Gilhooly prior to 

defaming Plaintiff on CNN (including issuing “statements” by nonprofit “nonpartisan” AFAUSSS 

- and by Media Matters and Correct the Record before libeling Officer Byrne.

40. Byrne’s claims in Crisis were true, making contrary intentional dissembling by the

Enterprise, and those they paid/bribed to publish and state utter falsehoods, defamatory and 

necessitating punitive damages – as well as serving as the foundation for related obstruction of 

justice predicate offenses. 

41. Byrne’s young children and extended family were cruelly made aware of the wholly false

publications and statements made about him by defendants (all now paid directly or indirectly by 
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the Clinton defendants), as were professional colleagues and friends, making the defamation against 

Byrne and his co-Plaintiffs particularly malicious and thereby subject to punitive damages. 

42. The Defendants’ falsehoods are directly contradicted by William Clinton’s most senior

staff prior to, during and following the impeachment of the 42nd President of the United States – as 

well as directly contradicted by sworn statements of Enterprise defendants William and Hillary 

Clinton and those among the Clinton coterie who are credible such as then-Chief of Staff Leon 

Panetta. 

43. Despite Plaintiff’s unambiguous and immediate written retraction demands to Brock and

his defendant entities, including Media Matters, Correct the Record, as well as Gilhooly and 

Wackrow, none of the Enterprise defendants’ false and defamatory statements have been retracted 

or withdrawn in any manner – nor even responded to as they were so obligated. 

44. Enterprise Member Gilhooly, among multiple other things and after being paid laundered

funds to defame Byrne, claimed falsely that Byrne had an “underlying motive” in writing Crisis 

and that Byrne was not fully truthful before the Starr grand jury – which constitutes slander per se 

and furthers the obstruction of justice intended by the Enterprise. 

45. Enterprise Members Gilhooly and Wackrow were paid via laundered funds to defame

Officer Byrne, and thus did not pay federal or state taxes thereon, having accepted laundered money 

to conspire in a scheme against Byrne whose truthful and multiple corroborated testimony before 

the Starr grand jury led to the impeachment of President William Clinton. 

46. Gilhooly concedes that he defamed Byrne by “calling [him] a liar” – yet refused to retract

his false defamatory statements regarding Byrne – nor did the nonprofit institution which Gilhooly 

headed, the Association of Former Agents of the United States Secret Service (“AFAUSSS”) retract 
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despite their ability to evade taxes, which benefited financially from Gilhooly’s slanderous 

appearances on CNN. 

47. President William Clinton himself admitted that female mistresses engaged in intimate acts

with him for long periods of time (contrary to the short periods of time that William Clinton swore 

under oath he spent with his lovers who were not his wife) – sometimes while he was conducting 

official, classified government business – and that Byrne interrupted their trysts as he was obligated 

to do out of concern for protecting the President. 

48. While William Clinton was President, Byrne was compelled by Independent Counsel Starr

to truthfully testify, which he did, not only to observing the violent outbursts of Hillary Clinton 

(against a sitting President), but also to the sexual harassment of the President in having 

subordinates (like intern Lewinsky) perform repeated and humiliating acts upon President William 

Clinton in or around the White House Oval Office. 

49. The Enterprise Defendants colluded deceptively and in vengeance by referring to Byrne’s

credibility as “suspect”, based upon a wholly false narrative that Byrne “contradicts sworn 

testimony” – thus further defaming him despite the concessions under oath by President William 

Clinton – and his subsequent impeachment. 

50. The Enterprise also colluded to defame and destroy Byrne, with Correct the Record,

FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK disputing that Hillary Clinton attempted to mame 

President William Clinton by throwing heavy objects at his head at close range and striking the 

President in the eye with another heavy object – thus attempting to mame (or possibly kill) the 42nd 

president of the United States. 

51. President William Clinton’s Secret Service “detail” was often out of proximity to President

Clinton when Hillary Clinton attacked President William Clinton, or when William Clinton 
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sexually molested younger women subordinates– directly contrary to the intentionally false 

defamatory statements of Gilhooly and Wackrow while “guests” on CNN, which false defamatory 

statements were placed on the Correct the Record website and described as fact “FROM THE 

DESK OF DAVID BROCK”. 

52. The Defendants colluded to again defame Byrne by covering up his recounting of repeated 

assaults and battering of our then-President reported by Byrne and testified to under oath before a 

grand jury duly constituted by Independent Counsel Kenneth Starr - any one of which would have 

resulted in a lengthy prison term for Hillary Clinton (who as “First Lady” enjoyed no privilege for 

assaulting, battering and/or attempting to maim or kill her husband, the President, or members of 

the Secret Service, or anyone else). 

53. The Defendants claimed, through Brock and Correct the Record FROM THE DESK OF 

DAVID BROCK, that Byrne had “ulterior motives” and that Officer Byrne “delved into falsities 

[many times confirmed] that read like the ‘daydreams of a low-ranking employee’” – these 

statements by Brock and Correct the Record were unambiguously false, utterly defamatory, 

intended to obstruct justice in light of Hillary Clinton’s espionage violations, and highly damaging 

to Plaintiffs in their business because the misconduct achieved its intended purpose such that as 

planned and intended by Brock when he contacted mainstream media, made false statements and 

paid off journalists, and thereby caused more than 50 media outlets to cancel any appearance by 

Officer Byrne, such that Plaintiffs could not promote sale of Crisis nor would any “mainstream” 

television or radio media outlet allow Byrne to even appear. 

54. What of course the Enterprise collusion fails to acknowledge is that hundreds of Secret 

Service agents, and Arkansas state troopers prior to that, have helped William Clinton do precisely 

what Byrne testified that he observed and why others have simply become disgusted and quit. 
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55. The Enterprise defendants similarly colluded to defame and discredit Byrne when Correct

the Record claimed Byrne lied, in Crisis, about Hillary Clinton assaulting and battering Secret 

Service officers by throwing heavy objects at their heads in an attempt to injure them in violation 

of federal law – 23 Secret Service witnesses are available to testify to either witnessing or being 

struck by Hillary Clinton’s projectiles. 

56. In yet another clearly defamatory (and coordinated) Enterprise personal attack, through

Correct the Record, FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK, it was stated that “facts seem to 

be optional for Gary Byrne” – despite President Clinton being impeached for perjury based upon 

these exact “optional facts”, to which William Clinton has subsequently admitted. 

57. Defendants, through their conduct of the Enterprise, have systematically and

continuously, within the past ten years at the very least, conducted along with other Enterprise 

members a corrupt enterprise in violation of RICO, and such acts are continuing in nature. 

58. As a result of the Enterprise defamation, Plaintiff’s business was deeply damaged and

sale(s) of his non-fiction New York Times (Number 1) best-selling book Crisis was/were harmed in 

an amount greater than fifty million dollars ($50,000,000) due to Brock and Podesta threatening 

media outlets and making false statements to cause such outlets to blacklist Plaintiff Gary Byrne. 

59. Enterprise illicit activities satisfy Arkansas law (the State from where the Enterprise

commenced over a decade ago) underlying punitive treble damages for defamation (allowing treble 

damages for defamation), and also necessitate that treble damages be awarded for violation of the 

federal RICO statute. 

60. Enterprise “SuperPACs” illegally coordinating with and illicitly supporting the

unsuccessful presidential bid of Hillary Clinton created and directed by Brock, spent in excess of 

$192 million in the 2016 election cycle alone to undermine Gary Byrne and other Clinton 
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“enemies,” much of which was spent in illegal coordination with, among and between Hillary for 

America (Hillary Clinton’s presidential campaign), Hillary Clinton, Brock, Media Matters, Correct 

the Record and related Brock entities, in order to seek vengeance against and smear Officer Gary 

Byrne and others whose truth-telling threatened the Enterprise long-term objective of electing 

Hillary Clinton as the 45th President of the United States. 

61. In preparation for the 2016 federal election cycle, the Enterprise and Brock made no secret

of being wholly partisan in running a steady stream of opposition research (primarily false) and 

defamation through defendant American Bridge and providing per se defamatory information 

on/against prominent Republicans and Officer Byrne, to the pro-Hillary Clinton Super PAC 

“Priorities USA”, and (illegally) to “Hillary for America” – in addition to the defamatory 

publication of information against Plaintiffs described herein and in furtherance of Enterprise 

obstruction of the Clinton private server investigation(s), both by wire and mail. 

62. In October of 2016, a group known as “Wikileaks” published American Bridge’s

“summary of accomplishments” during the 2016 campaign up to and including that date, revealing 

entirely partisan examples of Brock boasting of mainstream media being “sold” including CNN, 

The Hill, and Roll Call (all of whom subsequently cooperated with Brock in not only this illicit 

activity but unwittingly in Enterprise FISA abuse, false statements under oath and myriad 

obstruction of justice). 

63. Brock and his primary but certainly not only defamatory vehicle of choice, Correct the

Record, FROM THE DESK OF DAVID BROCK, defamed Plaintiff and caused significant 

damage and material harm to his reputation and business, and have recently illicitly underwritten 

the services of Enterprise Member CREW, a previously nonpartisan entity but is now entirely 

(and illegally) partisan – and which is illicitly paid by 
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Brock (based upon Soros and Daniel Jones funding) as part of the #Resistance – their mission is to 

destroy those like Plaintiffs, and the presidency of the 45th President, through unethical, partisan 

defamation, litigation and related tactics. 

64. Defendants David Brock, American Bridge, CREW and Shareblue have openly conceded

their illicit role in this attempt to damage the Trump presidency, using tactics employed to cause 

injury to the business of Plaintiff, see Exhibit “A” hereto - in an attempt by the aforementioned to 

illegally raise money from defendant Soros and named unknown illicit funders and others who seek 

to undermine the U.S. government, such as former SSCI staff director Daniel Jones and his 

laundered Soros funding. 

65. Plaintiff Gary Byrne was defamed, as a matter of law, by Defendants Brock and Correct

the Record utilizing tactics (and resources) that were buttressed by the Enterprise and directly 

approved by Hillary Clinton and her surrogates – not unlike the illicit tactics set forth in “Exhibit 

A”. 

66. The Enterprise and its primary individual funder, George Soros, were responsible for

underwriting funding for the defamation of Byrne and also have continued their illegal scheme with 

the intent of destroying the presidency of Donald Trump with the assistance of Daniel Jones and 

Fusion GPS – an objective they have readily conceded. 

67. In 2016, Correct the Record focused solely on supporting Enterprise tactics and defending

Hillary Clinton (and destroying her “enemies”) through their defamatory tactics – to accomplish 

this, and to destroy Gary Byrne, Brock converted Correct the Record into an Enterprise-driven 

super PAC. 
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68. Brock has openly conceded the Enterprise-driven coordination between Correct the Record

and Hillary for America (the campaign organization supporting Hillary Clinton in her bid for 

President in 2016). 

69. Brock has explicitly boasted about every tactic used by the Enterprise in this case – part of

Brock’s modus operandi, by his own admission, is the use of “journalistic sleight of hand” to 

deceive journalists and law enforcement, (and by inference this Court) and defamation to destroy 

those who “cross” him or the Enterprise – including but not limited to the implicit threat of bodily 

harm. 

70. The Internal Revenue Service demands, and U.S. law dictates, that Brock’s nonprofit

entities, as well as the co-conspirators discussed in Exhibit “A”, are barred from engaging in 

partisan activity and cannot favor or oppose any political candidate. 

71. In June of 2015, Brock himself openly admitted that “from the beginning” he and his

myriad nonprofit entities served a “major role in specifically defending Hillary Clinton” – 

notwithstanding his additional admission of open partisan collusion between Correct the Record 

and Hillary for America on strategy and tactics such as defaming Plaintiff. 

72. Brock and his illicit entities, in collusion with the Clintons and the Enterprise, have

as a pattern defamed sophisticated authors in the same manner as they defamed Gary Byrne – 

these authors include Pulitzer Prize recipients Jeff Gerth and Don Van Natta of the New York 

Times who in 2007 wrote a book entitled “Her Way: The Hopes and Ambitions of Hillary Rodham 

Clinton,” which was viewed by some as “critical of” Hillary Clinton. 

73. Enterprise defendant John Podesta assisted Brock and Tom Mazzie of “MoveOn.org” to

form (and raise millions for) “Progressive Accountability.org”, which spent tax-exempt money for 

the purpose of opposing the candidacy of Senator John McCain for president in 2008. 
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74. The “Center for American Progress” now managed by progressive scholar Neera Tanden

(who succeeded defendant John Podesta) has openly and devastatingly conceded in writing 

(between Tanden and John Podesta) that Correct the Record and Brock were “violating the law” 

when they coordinated with the Clinton campaign – including but not limited to the defamatory 

falsehoods directed at Plaintiff. 

75. Hillary Clinton and certain others including Defendant John Podesta destroyed thousands

of Enterprise emails, as well as (and in addition to) emails containing classified information 

including proof of criminal misconduct by the Enterprise in the midst of a tainted criminal 

investigation of Hillary Clinton – raising the aforementioned inference that the destroyed e-mails 

concerning Plaintiff Gary Byrne contained classified information and proof of criminal conduct 

against him. 

76. Contemporaneously, Hillary Clinton utilized at least thirteen (undisclosed) mobile

electronic devices to communicate classified information and instructions to, inter alia, defame 

Plaintiff Gary Byrne on behalf of the Enterprise and to obstruct justice by covering up Enterprise 

wrongdoing. 

77. Any demonstrable, i.e., real, investigation of Hillary Clinton and Enterprise activity would

definitively conclude an inference as to instructions to and from the Enterprise actors to defame 

Officer Gary Byrne. 

78. On this basis alone, the Enterprise and Hillary Clinton committed felony offenses,

destroyed evidence under subpoena, and thereby obstructed justice – albeit a mere fraction of their 

overall Enterprise criminal scheme exposure. 
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79. Defendants Hillary Clinton and John Podesta directed the payments of bribes to

independent contractors located in various states, and federal public officials, to create 

sources of false information about Officer Byrne, the particular States herein to be determined 

during discovery. 

80. In addition to the destruction of documents under congressional subpoena and court order

from this honorable court concerning Gary Byrne, the due and proper administration of the law was 

also corrupted by Strzok and McCabe, the senior FBI managers who along with Comey unilaterally 

concluded that Hillary Clinton lacked the requisite intent to violate the law when she concededly 

used private email servers to transmit classified information and then unlawfully and intentionally 

destroyed thousands of documents including those with respect to Officer Byrne. 

81. Among other things, Strzok (along with Ohr) corruptly influenced and impeded his

agency’s investigation (and deeply violated his legal and ethical obligations as a public servant), as 

relevant here to Officer Gary Byrne. 

82. Strzok also corruptly conducted the FBI interviews of Clinton and her top aides, Cheryl

Mills and Huma Abedin, in the illegal e-mail servers and document destruction probe (including 

Byrne), with the approval of Enterprise Members McCabe and Comey – thereby conspiring with 

McCabe, Comey and Attorney General Loretta Lynch to obstruct justice. 

83. Congress has issued contempt citations against the FBI and Justice Department for failing

to produce, pursuant to subpoena, documents and an FBI witness over the time, place and manner 

in which the Obama administration used the “salacious” and unsubstantiated "Trump Dossier" to 

surreptitiously surveil and run HCS operations against Trump associates and Clinton enemies such 

as Officer Gary Byrne - and to mislead the FISC. 
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COUNT ONE   
RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT 

“RICO” 18 U.S.C.A. § 1962(c) 

Against Hillary Clinton, John Podesta, David Brock, and Peter Strzok 

84. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in ¶¶ 1 - 83, herein.

85. 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) makes it “unlawful for any person employed by or associated with any

enterprise engaged in, or in the activities of which affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or 

participate directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of 

racketeering activity or collection of unlawful debt.” 

86. At all times relevant, Defendants Hillary Clinton, John Podesta, David Brock, and Peter

Strzok are persons as described in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3) in that they are individuals capable of holding a 

legal or beneficial interest in real property. 

ENTERPRISE 

87. Hillary Clinton, John Podesta, David Brock, Peter Strzok, and others, including but not

limited to Brock’s non-profit entities Media Matters for America, Correct the Record, and American 

Bridge 21st Century, Bruce Ohr, George Soros, Jonathan Wackrow, and Jan Gilhooly, constituted an 

association in fact enterprise as described in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(4), as it is an association-in-fact of 

individuals and entities. The Enterprise’s activities affected interstate or foreign commerce as, for 

example, false information generated about Plaintiff Byrne was provided by Brock to media outlets via 

Correct the Record and were disseminated throughout the country.  It is believed that Enterprise 

members also paid bribes to individuals, some of whom are federal or local public officials, located 

in multiple states to create false sources of information to be used against Byrne.  As described 

below, this Enterprise functioned as continuing unit; there were relationships among those associated 

with the enterprise to function with a 
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common purpose, and longevity of association, as enterprise members worked together for a number of 

years to defame Byrne and cause him reputational injury and incurrence of legal fees.  

Purpose and Relationships 

88. The Defendants’ Enterprise had the common purpose to prepare a false and defamatory

“dossier” on Plaintiff Gary Byrne, which they could disseminate throughout the media and therefore harm 

Plaintiffs.  The members also functioned together so that e-mails residing unlawfully on Hillary Clinton’s 

private server could be destroyed which included documents and e-mails evidencing the bribery of 

independent persons who would prepare the fake and damaging information, and delete information that 

illegal investigative sources (HSGs) were used against Officer Byrne.   

89. The common purpose and interrelationships (structure) between the Enterprise

constituents, consisting of legal entities and individuals, and others, described above, is separate and apart 

from the racketeering activity consisting of obstruction of justice in violation of section 1512, Travel Act 

violations in violation of section 1952(a)(3), and federal bribery statute section 201(c).   Each RICO 

Defendant is different and distinct from the association in fact Enterprise whose members collectively 

functioned together as a continuing unit.  The Enterprise activities involved/involve coordination, by their 

own admission, between David Brock’s partisan nonprofits and the Hillary for America presidential 

campaign (and its various complicit entities) and Enterprise participants with the intent to criminally 

injure, and defame, Hillary Clinton “enemies,” which include, but are not limited to, Plaintiff Byrne.   

CONDUCTING AFFAIRS OF THE ENTERPRISE 

90. Each Defendant participated in the “operation or management” of the Enterprise’s affairs,

as each Defendant had at least “some direction” in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise.   Hillary 

Clinton, along with John Podesta, with the knowledge and complicity of Peter Strzok, and others destroyed 
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emails implicating themselves in paying bribes to obtain fake and damning information about Plaintiff 

Gary Byrne and using illegal HSGs to surveil Byrne.  Hillary Clinton utilized at least thirteen (undisclosed) 

mobile electronic devices to communicate classified information and instructions to, inter alia, defame 

Plaintiff Gary Byrne on behalf of the Enterprise and to obstruct justice by covering up Enterprise 

wrongdoing.    David Brock, through his non-profits, knowing that bribes had been paid to independent 

contractors to gin up fake information about Plaintiff Byrne, provided defamatory information to media 

outlets.   Upon verifying that Strzok was instrumental in wrongdoing like assuring that emails concerning 

Gary Byrne were withheld and destroyed, and that a Human Confidential Source was used against Byrne, 

the FBI terminated Strzok both from FBI employment and federal government employment.  

91. Each Defendant was conducting the affairs of the Enterprise, and not just their own affairs,

as the fraudulent schemes could only have worked based upon the participation of each Defendant, each 

of whom, working together, benefited from damage to Byrne’s reputation.  

RACKETEERING VIOLATION 

92. From at a time before year 2016 through the present time, Defendants Hillary Clinton, John

Podesta, David Brock, Peter Strzok, with others, persons associated with Enterprise, did knowingly and 

unlawfully conduct or participate, directly or indirectly, in the affairs of the Enterprise through a pattern 

of racketeering activity, i.e., acts indictable under 18 U.S.C. § 201; 1512; and 1952, all in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1962(c). Plaintiff alleges that the above activities constitute acts indictable as ‘racketeering 

activity,” as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(1) (B). 

93. The Travel Act claims are reinforced by the use of mail and facilities, e.g. the

Massachusetts safe house for conspiracy in interstate commerce with clear intent to promote, manage, 

carry on and facilitate the establishment, promotion, management and carrying on of unlawful activity, 
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including but not limited to bribery and those crimes set forth in Title 31, United States Code, chapter 53 

and 18 United States Code § 1956 – all involving financial crime and money laundering.    

94. The obstruction of justice claim is buttressed as Hillary Clinton’s emails suggest that

downloading and uploading material in this fashion was a commonplace activity in her office; in June 

2011, a staffer encountered difficulty transmitting a document to her by means of a classified system and 

Hillary Clinton simply instructed him in the following (illegal) way to strip the classified markings from 

the document and send it on as an unclassified email - “Turn into nonpaper w no identifying heading and 

send nonsecure”. 

95. On May 19, 2015, a DOJ official named Peter Kadzik, writing from a personal email

account, emailed Enterprise defendant John Podesta to warn of a House investigation into Clinton's emails 

and destruction of evidence – thereby furthering the mass obstruction (deleting evidence) with a “tip” 

from the Obama Justice Department to the Hillary Clinton campaign chairman. 

96. On April 9, 2016, senior FBI manager Peter Strzok interviewed Hillary Clinton close

confidant Cheryl Mills and, thereby, by omission and commission, sought to and did interfere with the 

investigation into the Enterprise Clinton e-mail servers in exchange for lenient treatment of Secretary 

Clinton. During the final months of the corrupt Clinton email investigation, FBI counterintelligence agent 

Peter Strzok was advised of an irregularity in the metadata of Hillary Clinton’s server that suggested a 

possible breach, but intentionally conspired with others, including Defendants Hillary Clinton and John 

Podesta, and FBI officials in failing to follow up in any meaningful way and thus conspiring to obstruct 

justice. 

97. As underlying inference for this conspiracy to obstruct justice, this group of known and

unknown named FBI officers violated the most basic of intelligence community directives, ICD 732, by 
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which standard damage assessments are required to be done “in response to unauthorized disclosure 

or compromise of classified national intelligence.” 

98. ICD 732 is basic, open-source counterintelligence practice, grounded in the National 

Security Act of 1947, the Counterintelligence Act of 2002, Executive Order 12333, and related black letter 

intelligence law, presidential order, and regulatory dictate in pursuance thereof – each of the co-

conspirators would therefore be charged as if expertise is a presumption underlying individual and 

collective intent to obstruct justice; Intelligence beyond top secret was identified on the Clinton server. 

As Secretary of State, Clinton chose to use private, non-secure servers for government business. 

99. Strzok, who sent anti-Trump text messages that resulted in him being removed from the 

ongoing Special Counsel Robert Mueller’s Russia probe, and along with others now from federal 

employment, was told about the metadata anomaly in 2016, but Strzok did not support a formal damage 

assessment in violation of ICD 732 – raising an inference of complicity in the destruction of information. 

100. In December 2017, when the texts between Strzok and FBI lawyer Lisa Page became 

public, congressional sources said Strzok was “part of then FBI Director James Comey's inner circle, who 

advised and made edits to Comey's July 2016 public statement recommending against criminal charges in 

the Clinton probe”. 

PATTERN OF RACKETEERING 

101. From at least a few years before year 2016, and continuing through at least year 2016, and 

likely through the present time, Defendants conducted the affairs of the Enterprise through a pattern of 

racketeering.  

102. Plaintiffs allege that the course of conduct engaged in by the RICO defendants constituted

both “continuity” and “relatedness” of the racketeering activity, thereby constituting a pattern of 

racketeering activity, as that term is defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(5).  Plaintiff can show the “relatedness” 
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prong because the predicate acts of bribery and obstruction of justice have the “similar purposes, results, 

participants, or methods of commission and/or are related to the affairs of the Enterprise,” which was, 

inter alia, to gin up fake information to discredit Plaintiff(s), and destroy documents which would have 

implicated Defendants.  

103. Plaintiffs allege that the racketeering activity (bribery, obstruction by destroying documents

relevant to illegal activity involving Officer Byrne) began at least a few years before year 2016 continued 

through at least year 2016 thereby constituting a substantial period of time and satisfying the “closed-ended” 

test for continuity.  Plaintiffs also believe that this obstruction continues to this day as Defendants and 

Enterprise members continue to associate for the purpose of defaming Plaintiff and damaging his reputation 

thereby causing him injury.  Therefore, their conduct of bribe paying and destroying documents gives rise 

to the inference that such offenses would have continued indefinitely, if not interrupted.   

PROXIMATE CAUSATION 

104. As a result of Defendants’ violations of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c), Plaintiff has been damaged by

and has been injured in an amount proven at trial, but not less than $ 100 million. 

105. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants violations of 18 U.S.C. §1962(c) and

§1964(c), Plaintiff is entitled to three-fold damages and the costs of suit, including reasonable attorneys’

fees. 

106. Plaintiff demands that judgment be entered against Defendants for no less than

$1,000,000,000, jointly and severally, including an award of trebled damages as consistent with 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1964(c), compensatory and actual damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment interest, post-

interest costs, and an award that this Court deems just and proper. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 
Conspiracy to Engage in a Pattern of Racketeering Activity:  18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(5), 1962(d) 

Defendants Hillary Clinton, John Podesta, David Brock, and Peter Strzok 

107. Plaintiffs repeat and re-allege each and every allegation of the foregoing paragraphs as if

fully set forth herein, and specifically repeat and re-allege the allegations under the First Cause of Action 

concerning RICO liability. 

108. Defendants did cooperate jointly and severally in the commission of two or more of the

predicate acts that are set forth at 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961(1)(A) and (B), in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d). 

109. Plaintiffs further allege that all Defendants did agree to commit two or more of the offenses

itemized above in a manner which they calculated and premeditated intentionally to threaten continuity, 

i.e., a continuing threat of their respective racketeering activities, also in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1962(d).

Each Defendant agreed that a conspirator would commit at least two acts of racketeering, i.e., bribery and 

obstruction of justice, in the conduct of the affairs of the Enterprise. 

110. Plaintiffs demand that judgment be entered against Defendants for no less

than$1,000,000,000, jointly and severally, including an award of trebled damages as consistent with 18 

U.S.C. § 1964(c), compensatory and actual damages, reasonable attorneys’ fees, pre-judgment 

interest, post-interest costs, and an award that this Court deems just and proper. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION  
(Pendant Defamation Claim Under Arkansas Law) 

Hillary Clinton, John Podesta, and David Brock 

111. Plaintiffs repeat and re-alleges each and every allegation of the foregoing paragraphs as if

fully set forth herein. 
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112. Plaintiffs, and in particular Officer Gary Byrne, were defamed by all said defendants

under Arkansas Code, Title 16, Subtitle 5, Chapter 63, Subchapter 2, §16-63-207 – Libel and Slander. 

113. ARKANSAS CODE §16-63-207(a)(1) (2012) states: “In an action for libel or slander, it

shall not be necessary to state in the complaint any extrinsic facts for the purpose of showing the 

application to the plaintiff of the defamatory matter out of which the cause of action arose.  It shall be 

sufficient to state generally that the defamatory matter was published or spoken concerning the plaintiff.” 

114. In Arkansas, the ostensible “home” of the Enterprise wrongdoing, legal precedent requires

only that “a substantial and respectable minority” of the plaintiff’s community would consider the 

Enterprise slurs to be defamatory; the so-called “majority sentiment”, a far higher standard, cannot be 

considered by either the Arkansas judge or jury. 

115. Byrne suffered extraordinary reputational injury and, as noted throughout this complaint,

devastating monetary damage to his business as an author and commentator. 

116. Byrne is not a “public figure”, in any sense of that legal term of art.

117. Printed publications, images,online statements, e.g., “Correct the Record FROM THE

DESK OF DAVID BROCK”, all may constitute libel in Arkansas – even if they were repeated millions 

of times on social media, weblog commentary, and related defamatory missives. 

118. Slander, which occurred repeatedly in this case, is spoken or transitory defamation; Byrne

and Crisis were slandered repeatedly by Gilhooly and Wackrow on CNN. 

119. In several separate appearances on CNN, Gilhooly and Wackrow both provided wholly

and intentionally false renditions, set forth as fact, of Byrne’s job responsibilities and access to President 

and Hillary Clinton, in an attempt to discredit Byrne’s observations set forth in Crisis. 

120. All defendants, individually and collectively, attempted to destroy the reputation and

business of Byrne and other Plaintiff with false statements in writing and on television. 

Case 1:18-cv-01422-PLF   Document 51   Filed 08/29/18   Page 32 of 33



33 

121. Hillary Clinton, John Podesta and David Brock ordered that Byrne be defamed, and 

bribed government officials (e.g., Strzok, Ohr) because Plaintiff told the truth about Hillary Clinton in 

Crisis, and because Crisis became an immediate bestseller on the New York Times list for nonfiction; 

Brock also pressured and paid off over 50 media outlets to blacklist Byrne, thus completely and ad 

infinitum destroying his earlier putative success. 

122. The Enterprise used the same corrupt intimidation tactics, including but not limited to surveillance 

and illegal leaks, against Byrne that they are now using against President Trump, in a successful attempt to 

destroy Plaintiff's business.  

123. As a result of defendant’s defamation, Plaintiff is entitled to $50.5 million in damages.

124. Plaintiff will prevail as a matter of law, as the Defendant’s defamation was entirely and 

.intentionally false and made with the purpose of damaging Plaintiffs, who must be awarded treble damages 

jointly and severally in the amount of $151.5 million.

/s/   Mark R. Heilbrun_ 
MARK R. HEILBRUN 
Law Office of Mark Heilbrun  
Counsel of Record 
(D.C. Bar No. 434681) 
Reagan International Trade Center 
1300 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Suite 190, #414 
Washington, D.C. 20004 
(202) 577-9178
mh@harlanbradleyllp.com

Counsel for Plaintiffs 
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